
 
 
 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Standards Committee 

 
 

Date: Friday 10 June 2011 

Time: 9.30 am 

Place: Oxford Town Hall, St Aldate's, Oxford 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Alec Dubberley, Democratic Services Officer 

Telephone: 01865 252230 

Email: wreed@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer produce 
paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and Council member requirement. 
Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and 
at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

Standards Committee 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair   
 

Vice Chair   

 
 Councillor Michael Gotch Local Authority Representative 

 Councillor Gill Sanders Local Authority Representative 

 Councillor Val Smith Local Authority Representative 

 Councillor Dick Wolff Local Authority Representative 

 

 John Lay Independent Member 

 Dr Anne Gwinnett Independent Member 

 Chris Ballinger Independent Member 

 Meryll Dean Independent Member 

 Martin Gardner Independent Member 

 Nils Bartleet Parish Council Representative 

 Fred Mogridge Parish Council Representative 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  
 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
  Pages 

1 ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 

 

 To elect a Chair for the 2011/12 Council year. The Chair must be an 
independent member. 

 

 

2 ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR 

 

 

 To elect a Vice-Chair for the 2011/12 Council year. The Vice-Chair must be 
an Independent Member 

 

 

3 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

 

 The Constitution does not permit substitutions. 
 

 

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

 

 Members serving on the Committee are asked to declare any personal 
or prejudicial interests they may have in any of the following agenda 
items. 
 

 

5 MINUTES 

 

1 - 6 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 11 March 2011 

 

 

6 WORK PROGRAMME 2011/12 

 

7 - 10 

 To comment upon and agree the Committee’s work programme for the 
20011/12 Council year 

 

 

7 MEMBERS' MANDATORY TRAINING 2011/12 

 

 

 The Head of Law and Governance will provide a verbal update on the 
proposed training for Councillors in the 2011/12 year. 

 

 

8 ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW PANEL DECISION NOTICES 

 

11 - 18 

 To report on Assessment and Review Panels held since the last ordinary 
meeting. 

 

 

9 DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

 



 
  
 

 

 9 September 2011 – 3 pm 
2 December 2011 – 9.30 am 
9 March 2012 – 3 pm 

 

 

10 LOCAL INVESTIGATION REPORT - COMPLAINT REFERENCE 

703/4/29 

 

19 - 58 

 To consider a report from the investigating officer detailing the results of an 
investigation undertaken in respect of a complaint made against a Local 
Authority or Parish Councillor. 
 
(Paragraph 2: This item contains information which is subject to an obligation 
of confidentiality) 

 

 

 



 

 

 

DECLARING INTERESTS 

 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

Friday 11 March 2011 
 
 
PRESENT: John Lay (Chair), Anne Gwinnett (Vice-Chair), Councillors Clark 
Brundin, Gill Sanders, Val Smith and Dick Wolff (City Councillors); Chris 
Ballinger, Meryll Dean and Martin Gardner (Independent members); Fred 
Mogridge (Parish Council representative) 
 
COUNCIL OFFICERS PRESENT: William Reed (Democratic Services 
Manager); Alec Dubberley and Helen Lynch (Law and Governance). 
 
 

48. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Councillor Craft 
 
 
49. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 

None made.  
 

 

50. MINUTES 
 
Resolved that the minutes (previously circulated) of the meeting held on 10 
December 2010 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
 
51. PARISH COUNCIL PERIODIC REPORT 
 
 The Committee was advised that at a recently held Parish Council 
liaison meeting a brief overview of the proposed changes as a result of the 
Localism Bill was given. There was nothing further to report 
 
The Committee noted the position. 
 
 
52. ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW PANEL DECISION NOTICES 

 

 The Committee was presented with the one decision notice (previously 
circulated, now appended) of an Assessment Panel held since the last 
meeting. 
 
Resolved to note the report. 
 
 
53. PLANNING CODE OF CONDUCT 

Agenda Item 5

1



 
 The amended draft (previously circulated, now appended), based on the 
changes discussed at the December meeting, was presented for final 
approval. 
 
The Democratic Services Manager gave a summary of the Administration’s 
proposed changes to democratic structure. In doing so he explained the 
following:- 
 

• The planning functions currently carried out by six Area Committees 
would be transferred to two new geographically based planning 
committees with an ad hoc appeals committee. The Planning Code of 
Conduct would therefore need to be further revised to reflect the new 
structure. 

 

• The planning element of compulsory training for Councillors would still 
be mandatory even if the member did not sit on one of the new 
Committees. 

 

• Single member Executive decision making would be introduced meaning 
that the City Executive Board would meet less often and decisions 
would be taken by individual Board members. 

 

• Area Committees would be replaced with area forums that would meet 
on a quarterly basis to discuss community based issues. 

 

• The proposals were currently the subject of public consultation and final 
decisions would be reached by full council on 18 April. 

 
Resolved to note the position 
  
 
54. LOCALISM BILL – IMPLICATIONS FOR THE STANDARDS REGIME 

 

 The Head of Law and Governance submitted a report (previously 
circulated, now appended) informing the Committee of proposals in the 
Localism Bill that would affect the Committee. 
 

The Committee welcomed Helen Lynch (Legal Services) to summarise the 
report as follows:- 
 

• The Localism Bill was currently in the Committee Stage of the legislative 
process and having been first presented to Parliament in December 
2010. 

 

• The Bill would remove the statutory requirement for local authorities to 
have a standards committee meaning the current arrangements for 
assessment and review panels would cease. There would still be a 
requirement for local authorities to “promote high standards of 

2



conduct”. Authorities could, however, choose to keep operating a 
committee for standards albeit with reduced powers. 

 

• Standards for England would close with none of its functions being 
transferred to other bodies. 

 

• Authorities might want to adopt a voluntary code of conduct, although 
there would be no requirement to. This might be done by adopting the 
existing code, creating a new one or anything in between. It would be 
necessary for all members to sign up to the code for it to be capable of 
enforcement although the exact enforceability of any such code was 
still unclear.  

 

• From informal discussions with other Oxfordshire authority officers, it 
appeared that there was little appetite for voluntary codes of conduct. 

 

• The range of sanctions currently available to standards committees 
would not be available. The maximum penalty for a breach of a 
voluntary code would be censure.  

 

• A separate criminal process would apply for the failure to declare 
financial interests, although the Bill was unclear on this.  

 

• Responsibility for the designation of politically restricted posts would 
transfer from the Standards Committee to the Chief Executive.  

 
During the Committee’s discussion, the following points were made:- 
 

• It was felt that the retention of independent members would be integral 
to the success of any new standards committee. It was also 
commented that it would be inappropriate for the Audit and 
Governance Committee to take on any standards functions because no 
independent members sat on the committee. 

 

• Elected members felt that a voluntary code might give Councillors 
protection from maliciously motivated complaints and might go some 
way to restoring confidence in public figures following the recent 
parliamentary expenses scandal. 

 

• Members of the committee felt that Committee should continue in a non-
statutory role, maintaining its independent members. The Committee 
would also welcome the introduction of a voluntary code of conduct. 

 
Resolved:- 
 
(1) To ask that officers monitor the Localism Bill’s passage through the 
legislative process in order to make a report back to the September 
meeting. 

 

3



(2) To record that the Committee would RECOMMEND to Council that a 
voluntary code of conduct is established as well as the continuation of 
a Standards Committee in a form to be determined.   

 
  
55. DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 

 
 The Head of Law and Governance submitted a report (previously 
circulated, now appended) summarising the work of the committee for the 
current Council Year. 
 
The following points were highlighted:- 
 

• One complaint investigation was ongoing with a draft report being issued 
imminently. Two complaints were being assessed on Monday with one 
review panel due to meet straight after. The annual report would be 
updated to reflect this before final publication. 

 

• The comments made in relation to the future of the standards regime 
would be included in the annual report.  

 

• There had been a fall in the number of complaints and it was felt that this 
was in part due to a greater awareness of the complaints process by 
members. 

 
Resolved to:- 
 
(1) Note the report; 

 
(2) Ask that a response on the Localism Bill proposals is included; and 

 
(3) Approve the report so that it can be presented to Council in April 

 
 
56. MEETING WITH GROUP LEADERS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
The Chair reported that a very positive meeting had been held with two 

Group Leaders and the Chief Executive. The Committee had received thanks 
at that meeting for the work that it did to promote high standards in the 
Council. 
 
The Group leaders present shared the view that the work of the Committee 
should continue once the Localism Bill became law, with a voluntary code of 
conduct put into place. 
 
Resolved to note the position. 
 
  
57. WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2011/12 

 

4



 The Committee discussed the work programme for the next Council 
Year. It was decided that pending the outcome of the Localism Bill’s passage 
into law, the Committee should plan its work up until December only. 
 
Resolved to ask officers to draw up a work plan for May to December of the 
next Council Year for approval at the June meeting with the 2010/11 
programme forming the basis for the programme. 
 
 
58. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 
10 June 2011 
9 September 2011 
9 December 2011 
9 March 2012 

 
It was decided that the Committee should alternate its start time between 3 
pm and 9.30 am. 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 3.00 pm and closed at 4.15 pm. 

5



6

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 
Report of:  Head of Law and Governance                                                                              
            
To:   Standards Committee 
   
Date:   10 June 2011     

 
Title of Report:  Work Programme 2011/12  

 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

Purpose of report:  To enable the Committee to consider and approve the 
suggested work programme for the Council year 2011/112. 
 
Key decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: N/A 
 
Scrutiny Responsibility:  N/A 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
Report Approved by  
Legal: Jeremy Thomas 
Finance N/A 

Policy Framework: N/A 
 
Recommendation(s): That the Committee comments upon and agrees a 
work programme for the 2011/12 Council year as set out at Appendix One to 
this report.   

 
Introduction and Background 
 

1. The 2010/11 Standards committee work programme was agreed at the 
meeting held on in June 2010.   

 
2. As a result of the Government’s decision to abolish Standards for 

England, not all items were taken by the Committee. For example in 
previous years the Committee has considered reports from delegates 
of Standards for England’s Annual Assembly.  The Committee did, 
however, complete all of the business that it was able to.  

 

 

Agenda Item 6

7



3. As the future for Standards Committees nationally is still unclear as a 
result of the Localism Bill, much of the joint working between other 
Oxfordshire Authorities did not take place in the last Council year and 
is unlikely to resume this year. 

 
4. The proposed work programme reflects the above mentioned national 

uncertainty and gives the committee the flexibility to add or delete 
items should the position become clearer during the forthcoming year. 

 
 
Recommendation 
The committee is being asked to comment upon the work programme for 
2011/12 and to agree it. 
 
Name and contact details of author: Alec Dubberley, Law and Governance. 
01865 252402 
 
Background papers: None 

8



Appendix One 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE - SUGGESTED WORK PROGRAMME 2011/12 
 

Meeting Work Programme 

 
Friday 10 June 2011 • Approval of work programme 

2011/12 

• Members’ mandatory training 
plan  2011/12 

• Consideration of an investigation 
report 

Friday 9 September 2011 • Members’ Mandatory Training – 
Progress 

• Review of Whistle Blowing Policy 

• Corporate Complaints data 

• Annual Audit Letter 

• Review of Planning Code of 
Conduct 

Friday 2 December 2011 • Localism Bill/Future for 
Standards Committees – update 
report 

• Parish Council report 

• Review of Code on use of ICT 
equipment 

• Review of Member/Officer 
relations code. 

Friday 9 March 2012 • Annual Report 

• Future of the Standards 
Committee 

• Corporate Complaints data 

 

9



10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

REVIEW PANEL 
 

 
 

Members:  Martin Gardner (Chair) 
   Chris Ballinger 
   Councillor Gill Sanders 

       
Monday 14 March 2011 

 
 

DECISION NOTICE: NO FURTHER ACTION 
 
Councillor Mark Lygo (Oxford City Council) 
Case Reference 703/4/28 
 
1. BACKGROUND AND TIMELINE 
 
On 12 November 2010 The Monitoring Officer received a complaint from a 
member of the public that Councillor Mark Lygo failed to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct.   

 
An Assessment Panel first met on 2 December and adjourned to allow the 
Monitoring Officer to gather further information that the Panel requested. The 
Panel reconvened on 10 December to consider the complaint in light of the 
additional information. The Panel consisted of John Lay, Meryll Dean and 
Councillor Dick Wolff. 

 
The Panel concluded that they could find no breach of the code of conduct on the 
part of Councillor Lygo and accordingly did not refer the complaint for 
investigation. 

 
The Decision Notice was, on the 15 December 2010, sent to all relevant parties 
including the complainant. An accompanying note was sent with the notice 
advising the complainant of his right to have the complaint reviewed. On 7 
February 2010 the complainant exercised his right for a review. 

 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 8

11



2. ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 
It is alleged that Councillor Lygo failed to comply with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct because of the way he behaved during a visit to the complainant’s 
house (a member of the public) to discuss an issue relating to waste collection. 
The subject member was accompanied by a member of council staff from the 
City Works Service. 
 
The complainant further alleges that it was inappropriate for the subject member 
to invite a Council Officer to such a meeting. 
 
Finally, the complainant alleges that the subject member acted improperly as he 
failed to respond to email correspondence in the weeks after the visit to his 
home.  
  
These allegations could potentially engage the following sections/ paragraphs of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct: 
 

• Paragraph 3 (1) – You must treat others with respect 
 

• Paragraph 3(2)(b) – You must not bully any person 
 

• Paragraph 3(2)(d) you must not “do anything which compromises or is 
likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, 
your authority” 

 

• Paragraph 5 – “You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could 
reasonably regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute” 

  
 
3. DECISION 
 
The Review Panel carefully considered the all of the evidence placed before the 
Assessment Panel as well as the complainant’s emails requesting that the 
decision was reviewed. Its conclusions were as follows: 
 

The Panel was satisfied that the Councillor was both holding the office of 
Councillor and acting in his official capacity at the time of and in relation to 
the alleged conduct and that the Code of Conduct was therefore engaged. 
 
The Panel concluded that there was no specific evidence presented by the 
complainant either in the original compliant or the request for review to 
suggest that the subject member acted in a bullying or aggressive manner 
as suggested. There were no specific examples given of words used or 
any specific information to support the allegations. 
 

12



The Panel also concluded that falling to respond to email correspondence 
did not in itself constitute a breach of the code. 
 
The Panel did not think it was inappropriate for Councillor Lygo to be 
accompanied on the visit by the Council Officer. The Panel considered it 
was sensible to have officers present at such meetings, particularly if it 
assisted with the resolution of the issues.   

 
The Panel therefore decided that no action should be taken in respect of this 
complaint. 
 
This decision notice is sent to the person or persons making the allegation and 
the member against whom the allegation was made 
 
4. ADDITIONAL HELP 
 
If you need additional support in relation to this or future contact with us, please 
let us know as soon as possible. If you have difficulty reading this notice we can 
make reasonable adjustments to assist you, in line with the requirements of the 
Disability Discrimination Act 2000. 
 
We can also help if English is not your first language. 
 
Please contact Alec Dubberley, Democratic Services Officer on 01865 252402 or 
adubberley@oxford.gov.uk if you require any further assistance. 
 
 

 Signed  Martin Gardner  Date 15 March 2011 

 
Martin Gardner 
Chair of the Standards Committee Review Panel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Authority under which the decision is made 
 
The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 amends the 
Local Government Act 2000 which now provides for the local assessment of 
complaints that members of relevant authorities may have breached the Code of 

13



Conduct.  The Standards Committee (England) Regulations 2008 relate to the 
conduct of authority members and the requirements for dealing with this. 
 
The regulations set out a framework for the operation of a locally based system 
for the assessment, referral and investigation of complaints of misconduct by 
members of authorities.  They amend and re-enact existing provisions in both the 
Relevant Authorities (Standards Committees) Regulations 2000, as amended, 
and the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct) (Local Determination) Regulations 
2003 as amended. 

14



 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

ASSESSMENT PANEL 
 

 
 

      
Members:     Anne Gwinnett (Chair) 

      Martin Gardner 
      Councillor Clark Brundin 
       

Monday 17 January 2011 
 

DECISION NOTICE: REFERRAL FOR INVESTIGATION 
 
Councillor Bryan Keen (Oxford City Council) 
Case Reference 703/4/29 
 
NOTE: The subject member and complainant should note that the complaint 
remains in an unconcluded state. Until it is concluded you should restrict the 
passing on of any information that could breach the provisions of the Data 
Protection Act 1998, impede any investigation, represent a breach of 
confidentiality or otherwise constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct. 
 
 
1. ALLEGATION AND FUNCTION OF PANEL 
 

It is alleged that Councillor Bryan Keen (a member of Oxford City Council) 
failed to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct.  The function of the 
Assessment Panel is to decide if allegations of breaches of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct merit investigation. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 
 
 It is alleged that Councillor Keen failed to comply with the Members’ Code 

of Conduct because of the way he behaved during the “open session” of 
the Cowley Area Committee held on 3 November 2010 
 

3. DECISION 
 
 In accordance with Section 57A(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 2000, 

as amended, the Assessment Panel of the Standards Committee decided 
to refer the allegation to the Monitoring Officer for investigation 

 

15



Potential breaches of the Code of Conduct identified 
 

We have identified below the paragraphs of the Code of Conduct which 
may apply to the alleged conduct: 

 

• Paragraph 3 (1) – You must treat others with respect 
 

• Paragraph 3(2)(b) – You must not bully any person 
 

• Paragraph 5 – “You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could 
reasonably regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute” 

 
This decision notice is sent to the person or persons making the allegation 
and the member against whom the allegation was made  
  

5. ADDITIONAL HELP 
 

If you need additional support in relation to this or future contact with us, 
please let us know as soon as possible. If you have difficulty reading this 
notice we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you, in line with the 
requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 2000. 

 
We can also help if English is not your first language. 

 
Please contact Alec Dubberley, Democratic Services Officer on 01865 
252402 or adubberley@oxford.gov.uk if you require any further 
assistance. 

 
 

 Signed  Anne Gwinnett  Date 18 January 2011 

 
Anne Gwinnett 
Chair of the Standards Committee Assessment Panel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Authority under which the decision is made 
 

16



The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 amends the 
Local Government Act 2000 which now provides for the local assessment of 
complaints that members of relevant authorities may have breached the Code of 
Conduct.  The Standards Committee (England) Regulations 2008 relate to the 
conduct of authority members and the requirements for dealing with this. 
 
The regulations set out a framework for the operation of a locally based system 
for the assessment, referral and investigation of complaints of misconduct by 
members of authorities.  They amend and re-enact existing provisions in both the 
Relevant Authorities (Standards Committees) Regulations 2000, as amended, 
and the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct) (Local Determination) Regulations 
2003 as amended. 

17



18

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 
 
                                                                                     
To:  Standards Committee    
 
Date:  10 June 2011         
 
Report of:   Head of Law and Governance 
 
Title of Report:  Consideration of Investigating Officers report 
 
 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: 
 
1) To introduce to the Committee the Investigating Officer’s report in relation to 
Complaint ref: 703/4/29; and  
 
2) Set out what action the Committee must now take in relation to that report.    
 
Report Approved by:  
 
Finance: N/A 
Legal: N/A 
 
Policy Framework: Not Applicable 
 
Recommendation: the Committee must determine to either 1) Uphold the 
Investigating Officer’s finding that there was no failure to comply with the Member 
Code of Conduct and dismiss the allegation; or 
 
2) Refer the matter to a Local Determination hearing. 
 

 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1 On 7 December 2010, the Standards Committee received a complaint against 

Councillor Bryan Keen of Oxford City Council from Ms Jane Alexander. 
  

2 On 17 January 2011, the Assessment Panel of this Committee met to 
consider the complaint. The Panel referred the complaint to the Monitoring 
Officer for investigation. The Monitoring Officer appointed Daniel Smith 
Solicitor, as Investigating Officer.   
 

3 The investigation report is appended and the Investigating Officer has 
concluded that there was no failure to comply with the Code.     

 

 

Agenda Item 10

19



 

 

 
Next steps 
 
4 The Standards Committee is now required to consider the Investigating 

Officer’s report and on the basis of the facts in that report decide whether to 
uphold the Investigating Officer’s finding of no failure to comply with the Code 
or whether to refer the matter to a local determination hearing. 

 
5. The Standards Committee must make this decision on the basis of the 

Investigation Report only. It should not seek to interview witnesses or receive 
representations from the parties. 

 
6. If the Standards Committee accepts the Investigating Officer’s report that 

Councillor Keen did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the complaint 
is effectively closed.  However, the Standards Committee must arrange for a 
notice to be published in a local newspaper, on the authority’s website and/or 
in any other publication.  The notice should state the Standards Committee’s 
findings and give reasons for it.  Councillor Keen has the right to request that 
such a notice is not published. 

7. If the Standards Committee do not accept the Investigator’s finding and 
conclude that a hearing should be held, I will make the necessary 
arrangements and commence the pre-hearing process.  

8. The Standards Committee must give written notice of its decision to 
Councillor Keen and Ms Alexander.  

 
Recommendation: 
 
The Committee must determine whether to: 
1)   Uphold the Investigating Officer’s finding that there was no failure to comply with 

the Member Code of Conduct; or 
2)   Refer the matter to a Local Determination hearing. 
 
 
Name and contact details of author:  
Alec Dubberley, Democratic Services Officer 
01865 252402 
 
Background papers: None identified 
 
Version number: 3 

20



  
 
Complaint Reference: 703/4/29 – Councillor Bryan Keen, Oxford City 
Council. 
 
On the 18th January 2011, the Assessment Panel of the Standards Committee 
of Oxford City Council referred allegations against Councillor Bryan Keen to 
the Monitoring Officer of the City Council for investigation in accordance with 
section 57A (2)(c) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
 
In accordance with guidance issued by the Standards Board for England the 
Monitoring Officer, Jeremy Thomas, appointed Daniel Smith (Lawyer), Oxford 
City Council to conduct the investigation. 
 
This report sets out that investigation and its conclusions. 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniel Smith  
25th May 2011 
 

21



 
CONTENTS 

 
1. Executive Summary  
 
2. Councillor Keen’s Council Details 
 
3. The Relevant Legislation and Protocols 
 
4. The Evidence Gathered 
 
5. Summary of the Material Facts 
 
6. Reasoning as to whether there have been Failures to Comply with the 

Code of Conduct 
 
7. Finding 
 
 
Appendix A - Witness interview notes. 
 
Appendix B  - Other evidence taken into account  
 

22



 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 Summary of Allegation 
 

It is alleged that Councillor Bryan Keen breached the Members Code of 
Conduct of Oxford City Council by behaving inappropriately during the 
meeting of the Council’s Cowley Area Committee on 3rd November 
2010.  
 
The Complainant is a member of the public who spoke during the ‘open 
session’ of the meeting, She alleges that Councillor Keen, while Chair 
of the meeting, “came up to me in what I felt was a highly threatening 
and intimidating manner, jabbing his finger at me as he got closer. He 
was talking loudly as he came, clearly trying to shut me up…” The 
complaint continues “… he grabbed me with both hands just below my 
shoulders in an effort to turn me towards the door to physically remove 
me from the meeting.” 
 

 
1.2 Summary of Investigation Conclusion 
 

Councillor Keen did not breach the Members Code of Conduct. 
 
 
2. Councillor Keen’s Council Details 
 
2.1 Councillor Keen has been a City Councillor since 1989 with a two year 

break between 2000 and 2002. He has been Chair of Cowley Area 
Committee since 2002. 

 
2.2 Councillor Keen is ward member for Cowley. 
 
2.3 Councillor Keen has completed training on the Members Code of 

Conduct at the beginning of each council year and most recently in 
2010. He last signed a undertaking to observe the Code on 2nd May 
2008.  

 
2.4 In the last Council year Councillor Keen sat on the following 

Committees of the City Council: 

• Value and Performance Scrutiny 

• Audit and Governance 

• Strategic Development Control 

• General Purposes Licensing 

• Licensing and Gambling Acts 

• Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing 

• Cowley Area Committee 
 
 
 

23



3. The Relevant Legislation and Protocols 
 
3.1 The Complainant does not refer to any specific provisions of The Code 

of Conduct for councillors in relation to her complaint. However, having 
considered her complaint as a whole I consider the following 
paragraphs of the Code to be relevant:- 

 
 
 3 (1)  You must treat others with respect 
 
 3 (2)(b) You must not bully any person 
 
 5   You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing your office or authority in to 
disrepute 

 
 
4. The Evidence Gathered 
 
4.1 I have interviewed the following people:- 
 

• Jane Alexander (Complainant) 

• Councillor Bryan Keen (Complaint Subject) 

• Inspector Matthew Coburn (Thames Valley Police) 
 
Notes of interviews are attached at appendix A  

 
  
4.2 I have also considered the following documentary evidence: 
 

• Complaint Form 

• Email from Insp Coburn to Jeremy Thomas 7th December 2010. 

• Emails (redacted) of 4th November 2010 and 18th February 2011 
from Murray Hancock (Chief Principal Planner) 

• Minutes of the meeting of Cowley Area Committee 3rd November 
2010. 

 
 The above documents are attached at appendix B. 
 
 
5. Summary of Material Facts 

 
5.1 Cowley Area Committee convened for its regular meeting at 6.30pm on 

3rd November 2010. Area Committee procedures provide for an ‘open 
session’ during which members of the public may, at the Chair’s 
discretion, address the Committee on a local topic of their choice for a 
maximum period of five minutes. Chair of the meeting on 3rd 
November was Councillor Bryan Keen. Three other Committee 
members were present as well as six Council officers. Approximately 

24



20 members of the public were also in attendance at the start of the 
meeting. 

 
5.2 During the open session of the meeting requests were made by two 

members of the public to speak on the topic of leisure provision in 
Oxford, specifically the issue of Temple Cowley swimming pool. I have 
been aware during this investigation that the question of Temple 
Cowley Pool and its proposed closure is an ongoing and controversial 
issue that has attracted protests. The merits or otherwise of the 
proposed closure are not part of this investigation and have not formed 
any part of my consideration.   

 
5.3 Jane Alexander (JA) was one of the two people who requested to 

speak on leisure provision in Oxford. There is disagreement between 
Councillor Keen (BK) and JA over whether she was given her own five 
minute period to speak or only half of the available five minutes shared 
with the other speaker. The Committee minutes do not clarify this but in 
any event I find the amount of time granted is not material to the matter 
of complaint. JA was given the opportunity to address the Committee 
and make her points.   

 
5.4  During her allotted time JA asked whether the Council had made a 

decision to close Temple Cowley pool. BK invited Councillor Bob Timbs 
(Executive Member for Leisure Partnerships) to answer JA’s questions. 
JA was not satisfied with the answers given. I have not reached any 
view on whether or not her questions were adequately answered and I 
repeat that the issue of the proposed closure of Temple Cowley pool is 
not a matter for this investigation. Answers were given to JA’s 
questions though she clearly found them unsatisfactory.   

 
5.5 In any event, it is not disputed that the atmosphere of the meeting then 

became heated. JA repeated her point and BK attempted to move the 
meeting on, the allotted five minutes of the open session having been 
used up by that time. JA was asked by BK to finish her point and return 
to her seat. JA did not comply with that request. In her complaint she 
states she had become angry and frustrated by this point. 

 
5.6 There is then some diversion in the accounts given over exactly what 

happened next. However, it is clear to me that JA did not desist from 
making her point and continued to speak despite the Chair’s direction. 
It is also not disputed that BK said that he would suspend the meeting 
if JA did not stop and that he appealed for assistance in resolving the 
situation.   

 
5.7 It is agreed that at some point JA did stand up and move from the 

speaker’s table while continuing to speak and that BK left his chair and 
walked over to where JA was. BK made further attempts to persuade 
JA to be quiet and did touch JA in the process of doing this. The nature 
of that contact is a disputed key factor in the complaint which I will deal 
with later in the report. 

25



 
5.8 On being touched JA said loudly “take you hands off me”. BK then 

immediately retreated and returned to his chair. The meeting then 
appears to have continued with out further event. 

 
5.9 There was a confrontation between BK and JA some time after 3rd 

November at Barton pool. Nothing which happened at that meeting is 
the subject of complaint, but I have taken the parties evidence about it 
into account as background in forming a view about their evidence of 
events on 3rd November.  

 
5.10 Among the other people present at the meeting on 3rd November was 

Inspector Matthew Coburn of Thames Valley Police. He attended the 
meeting as local police representative. Whilst it is normal for a police 
officer to attend meetings, 3rd November was the first time Insp Coburn 
had been to Cowley Area Committee.  

 
5.11 I have found the evidence of Inspector Coburn especially helpful in 

considering this complaint. Not only is he a senior police officer with all 
the training and experience in observation and judgement that goes 
with that position, it was also the first area committee meeting he had 
attended so he was able to observe events objectively with no previous 
relationship to any of the parties. I have therefore placed significant 
weight on his evidence of the incident. 

 
5.12 I have also found helpful the evidence of Murray Hancock (Chief 

Principal Planner). His account was written soon after the event in an 
email sent on the following day. Although there is not much detail to his 
account it appears to me more consistent with BK’s version of events 
than that of JA.   

 
 
 
6.   Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with 

the Code of Conduct 
 
6.1 It is clear to me that JA has passionate and no doubt genuinely held 

concerns over the issue of Temple Cowley pool. In her own evidence 
she concedes that she was angry and frustrated by the Committee and 
what she perceived as their failure to answer her questions. This is 
corroborated by Insp Coburn who describes her behaviour as ‘loud’, 
‘disruptive’ and her body language as ‘aggressive’. I find it a real 
possibility that the level of stress she was under at the time may have 
clouded her recollection of events. I have also taken the evidence of 
her demeanour into account in reaching a view on BK’s behaviour. 

 
6.2 BK was Chair of the meeting, the procedure and discipline of the 

meeting was his responsibility. Members of the public permitted to 
speak in the open session should comply with any reasonable request 
made by the Chair. It was within BK’s remit to direct JA to stop talking 

26



once her allotted time had expired. Once she had failed to comply with 
that request, in my view BK was then entitled, and as chair had a 
responsibility, to take reasonable steps within the Code of Conduct to 
stop her talking and progress the meeting.    

 
6.3 In retrospect leaving his seat and approaching JA may not have been 

the best way to resolve the situation but I find that in the 
circumstances, with no other assistance forthcoming, it was an entirely 
understandable and reasonable step to take. It was taken in good faith 
and showed no disrespect; the balance of the evidence supports this 
view. 

6.4 Any contact he made with JA appears to have been intended as 
conciliatory and passive and certainly not sufficient to constitute an 
assault. This is confirmed by Inspector Coburn who says that whilst it is 
“possible that BK’s hands may have touched JA, his hands remained 
below his elbows with palms out in a neutral gesture”. I also consider it 
very relevant the BK retreated completely as soon as JA asked him to 
do so and according to Insp Coburn’s account was “visibly shaken” by 
her response. 

6.5 In her complaint JA describes BK’s behaviour as “intimidating and 
threatening” including “jabbing his finger at me as he got close”. I have 
not found this description to be supported by the other witnesses and I 
find their version more persuasive than hers. 

6.6 I have considered whether BK’s behaviour constituted any breach of 
the relevant parts of the Code of Conduct as set out at paragraph 3 
above. 

 
  
6.7 Bullying  

 
The relevant section of the Code is paragraph 3 (2)(b); 

 
 You must not bully any person 
  

6.8 The Standards for England Code of Conduct characterises bullying ‘as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour 
which attempts to undermine, hurt or humiliate an individual or group. It 
can have a damaging effect on a victim’s confidence, capability and 
health. Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or 
threatening way, or making allegations about people in public, in the 
company of their colleagues, through the press or in blogs, (but within 
the scope of the Code of Conduct). It may happen once or be part of a 
pattern of behaviour, although minor isolated incidents are unlikely to 
be considered bullying. It is also unlikely that a member will be found 

27



guilty of bullying when both parties have contributed to a breakdown in 
relations’.  

6.9 The Code should be slow to intervene in democratic debate, no matter 
how robust so long as the language used does not descend into 
personal insults. 

6.10  There is no evidence of any abusive, offensive or insulting words or 
behaviour by BK, neither does the balance of the evidence show there 
was any intent to humiliate or undermine JA. In fact the evidence 
indicates that JA’s own behaviour in persistently and loudly repeating 
her points despite requests to stop probably contributed to the 
situation. 

6.11 In my view nothing in BK’s behaviour could reasonably be considered 
bullying within the meaning of the Code.     

 
6.12 Disrespect 
 

The relevant section of the Code is paragraph 3 (1)(a); 
 
 You must treat others with respect 
 
6.13 Having considered all the evidence I find that BK’s behaviour was a 

genuine, courteous and conciliatory attempt to pacify JA who was 
agitated and frustrated. As Chair of the meeting he demonstrated 
respect by allowing JA to speak during the open session and by inviting 
the appropriate member of the Committee to address her questions. 
His actions to stop her speaking after her allotted time had expired 
were reasonable in discharging his responsibility for maintaining the 
discipline of the meeting. Any physical contact was slight and intended 
to peacefully resolve the situation. No disrespect was meant or could 
reasonably have been apprehended. As soon as it was made clear that 
contact was unwelcome BK retreated completely. 

 
6.14 Disrepute 
 
 The relevant section of the Code is paragraph 5: 

 
You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be 
regarded as bringing your office or authority in to disrepute  
 

6.15 BK’s actions appear to have been a genuine attempt to discharge his 
responsibilities as Chair of the meeting and to deal appropriately with 
disruption and a challenge to the Chair’s authority. Whilst getting up 
from his seat to resolve the situation with JA face to face may in the 
end have been more inflammatory than settling, it was not an 

28



unreasonable thing for a chairman to do in response to a difficult and 
immediate situation. 

 
 

6.16 I accept BK’s evidence that his actions were a reasonable response to 
the situation and that he believed he was acting in accordance with 
committee procedures. His account of events seems to be entirely 
supported by the evidence of Insp Coburn. 

6.17 I cannot see how any disrepute of BK’s office or the Council as a whole 
can have been brought about as a result of his actions.     

 
7. Findings 
 
7.1 For the reasons referred to above, I find that Councillor Bryan Keen 

has not breached the Member Code of Conduct. 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniel Smith 
25th May 2011 

29



30

This page is intentionally left blank



Standards Investigation Interview 
 
Note of Interview with:  Jane ALEXANDER 
 
Date of Interview:  9th February 2011 
 
 
 

1. My name is Jane Alexander. I have made a complaint to the Standards 

Committee about the behaviour of Councillor Bryan Keen (BK) at the 

Cowley Area Committee meeting on 3rd November 2010. I have had 

the text of my complaint read out to me and I agree with the contents. I 

would also like to add the following: 

 

2. I was not pleased that I was only allocated half of the available 5 

minutes of the open session. I do not think that I used up all the time I 

was allocated. 

 

3. BK said to me “you have had your say – be quiet.” 

 

4. I said that the Committee were wrong about the Temple Cowley pool 

decision. 

 

5. BK said “that’s enough now” he waived his hand at me. 

 

6. He then stood up and said “can anyone take this person out”. 

 

7. I felt the Committee were not telling the truth about the pool decision. 

 

8. I stood up to step back from the speakers table but I felt the information 

was wrong so I stayed standing where I had been sitting. I felt I had to 

correct the inaccuracies – the decision had not been made. 

 

9. BK walked across the floor from his desk. He was jabbing his finger 

and repeatedly telling me to be quiet. He was close to me when he was 

doing this. 

31



 

10.  I felt the truth was more important than obeying the Chair so I did not 

stop making my points. 

 

11. BK was trying to pacify me and get me to leave the meeting. I said 

again to BK “the decision has not been taken”. I was frustrated – no 

decision had been made. 

 

12. BK appeared to be trying to turn me toward the exit of the room. I was 

shaken by this. I told him to take his hands off me. He did so 

immediately and backed off. 

 

13. I am not clear what happened after that. I think I stayed in the room for 

a while longer and then left. 

 

14. There was a police officer at the meeting but he did not leave his seat. 

 

15. I also remember BK saying “If you do not shut up I will have to suspend 

the meeting”. I do not recall the meeting actually being suspended. 

 

16. I felt that BK was bullying in that he was trying to make me do 

something I did not want to do. I expected my questions to be 

answered and I was bullied into not challenging the answer given by 

Councillor Timbs. I also felt it was disrespectful of BK not to permit the 

public to speak. 

 

17. I was upset and shaken by the incident. I felt vulnerable and 

intimidated. I felt that BK’s behaviour was inappropriate. I do not think 

he would have behaved like he did if I was a man. He was the chair of 

the meeting and he should not have done it. 

 

18. I did go to the next Cowley Area Committee but BK did not apologise. 

He did not appear to think he had done anything wrong. I also saw him 

at Barton but again he did not apologise for his behaviour. 

32



 

19. As far as I remember the rest of the meeting on 3rd November was 

uneventful. 

 

   

  

------------------------------------------- 

33



34

This page is intentionally left blank



Standards Investigation Interview 
 
Note of Interview with:  Bryan KEEN 
 
Date of Interview:  15th February 2011 
 
 
 

1. My name is Bryan Keen. I am a city councillor and have been Chair of 

Cowley Area Committee since 2002. 

 

2. I was chair of the Cowley Area Committee meeting on 3rd November 

2010. 

 

3. There were about 20 members of the public at the meeting. Inspector 

Matt Coburn (Thames Valley Police) was also in the audience. 

 

4. There were five people who wanted to speak in the open session. Two 

were concerning Temple Cowley pool although they actually put leisure 

provision in Oxford on the form rather than Temple Cowley pool 

specifically. The second person to speak on Temple Cowley pool was 

Jane Alexander (JA). I have known JA since she began to campaign 

about temple Cowley. She regularly comes to meetings to raise the 

pool issue. I gave her an equal time of five minutes as she had filled in 

a separate speakers form. 

 

5. I have not been to any of the meetings specifically concerning Temple 

Cowley pool so I tried to stay out of the issue and let Bob Timbs 

address the points. 

 

6. I know that JA has been disruptive at previous Cowley Area meetings 

and at full Council concerning the Temple Cowley pool issue. She 

won’t stop, she carries on even after I have asked her to finish, she 

does not accept our answers. 

 

35



7. On 3rd November she took her seat to speak and asked whether a 

decision to close the pool had been taken. She was told that it was not 

an area committee matter but a matter for the City Executive Board 

(CEB) which had already approved it for tender. That was all we could 

really say on the matter. JA came back and repeatedly asked “are you 

going to close the pool?”  She said this over and over and took up her 

five minutes. She also challenged Councillor Timbs on the plan to fit a 

moveable floor in the new pool, she called him a liar, as she did not 

believe he was telling the truth. He then refused to answer any more 

questions.  

 

8. I told her that her five minutes were up; she had had an answer and 

should go back to her seat. She did go back to a seat on the left of the 

gangway but continued to complain. Inspector Coburn was on the right 

side in the same row. 

 

9. From her seat she started shouting the same point  “you have not 

answered my question – is the pool going to close?” 

 

10. I politely asked her to be quiet or leave the meeting. She would not be 

quiet and I could not continue with the meeting. I told her that if she did 

not stop I would suspend the meeting. I had a microphone so I could 

be heard over her. She did not stop. 

 

11. I asked the police Inspector whether he could take any action but he 

did not respond. I thought a police officer would be the best person to 

remove her. I believed she should be removed from the meeting as she 

was being disruptive. I believed that was what the Committee 

procedure provided. As the police would not do it I left my chair, which 

effectively suspended the meeting. Alec Dubberley (Committee Clerk) 

had proposed stopping the meeting until JA became quiet or left the 

meeting. I went across the room to where JA was, I was in the aisle 

next to her. She was still shouting “I want an answer” as I walked 

36



towards her. She was trying to get the audience on her side saying 

“they won’t give me an answer”. 

 

12. As Chair I had never had to leave my seat before to deal with 

disruption. 

 

13. When I got to where JA was I said “will you be quiet or leave the 

meeting”. She took no notice, she was standing by her seat facing the 

people attending the meeting and seeking further attention. I touched 

her on the top of her left arm with the open palm of my right hand, I 

said “come on Jane, either go or be quiet”. I thought this was 

reasonable in the circumstances. 

 

14. She shouted at me “take your hands off me” and carried on asking for 

an answer on the pool. I repeated that CEB had agreed to go to tender 

and the pool would not close til a new pool had been built. JA seized 

on this and said “Ah – they will not close the pool – you heard him”.  

She then stopped speaking but stayed in her seat. I think she left later 

in the meeting. 

 

15. I went back to my chair and continued with the meeting. There were no 

more exchanges between me and JA and the rest of the meeting went 

off quietly. 

 

16. JA has been to every Cowley Area meeting since November to speak 

on the pool issue and has not been disruptive. 

 

17. Some time after 3rd November I was at a meeting at Barton pool. JA 

was also there and she approached me in front of other councillors and 

officers and said I should resign because I had molested her. 

Councillor Williams tried to calm her. She was very aggressive towards 

me. I felt intimidated and upset by the accusation. I did not feel I had 

done anything wrong and it would be ludicrous for me to resign. It was 

37



one of my worst experiences as a councillor – no one has ever said 

anything like that to me before. 

 

18. At the meeting on 3rd November I did not show any lack of respect, I 

was only trying to calm JA. 

 

19. I did not bully her at all. I was the Chair of the meeting, I expected 

others to respect the Chair and be quiet when I was speaking. I felt that 

JA was abusing her right to speak at the meeting and was in fact 

bullying me by ignoring my requests. At no point did I use any abusive 

or offensive language. 

 

20. I did not bring the office of Chair into disrepute. I had to do something 

as Chair to maintain the discipline of the meeting. I felt my actions were 

a reasonable response to the situation.   

 

 

 

------------------------------------------- 

38



Standards Investigation Interview 
 
Note of Interview with:  Matthew Darell COBURN 
 
Date of Interview:  7th February 2011 
 
 

1. I am a police officer (Inspector) with Thames Valley Police. I have 

responsibility for the Cowley neighbourhood. 

 

2. On 3rd November 2010 I attended a meeting of the City Council’s 

Cowley Area Committee as police representative. It was the first area 

committee meeting I had been to.  

 

3. I sat on my own on the left of the panel. I was in the front row of the 

public seating adjacent to the table for public speaker’s. 

 

4. There appeared to be two big issues under discussion by the 

Committee. The second of these was Temple Cowley swimming pool. I 

was aware of the plan to close Cowley pool but not any of the detail or 

background. 

 

5. During the public open session on the Temple Cowley Pool issue Jane 

Alexander (JA) went to speak. I do not know JA and had not met her 

before the meeting. 

 

6. There was an immediate atmosphere; I felt that there was clearly some 

history to the issue.  JA made the point that she felt that no decision 

had yet been made on the question of closing the pool. The Committee 

members responded that the decision had already been made. The 

meeting then descended into an argument over whether or not a 

decision had been made. 

 

7. JA kept coming back to the same point about no decision having been 

made; she appeared to be stuck on this point and repeated herself. 

She appeared to be very anxious. 

39



 

8. Councillor Bryan Keen (BK) was Chair of the meeting he said “we have 

already been over this”. The panel agreed with him. I felt that the Panel 

were patient and professional and dealt with JA’s anxiety very well. 

She clearly had very strong feelings on the issue.  The meeting was 

much livelier than I had expected a Council area committee meeting 

would be. 

 

9. JA continued to repeat her point, BK told her that she had overrun her 

allotted time and asked her to stop. It was clear to me she had overrun 

and I was surprised she was able to continue so long. BK warned her 

that the meeting would have to be suspended if she carried on. JA 

continued with her point more loudly and appeared to get very 

stressed. She was shaking and her face was red. Her behaviour was 

disrupting the meeting and her body language was at times aggressive. 

The Panel did address her points but really only by saying that the 

decision had already been made, she continued to say it had not – it 

became a ‘tit for tat’ argument. 

 

10. BK gestured to me as if to say ‘what are you going to do?’. I gestured 

back by putting up my hands to mean that I did not intend to do 

anything as it was not a police matter.  

 

11. BK then got out of his chair and approached JA. I remember thinking 

that this was probably not a good idea. BK and JA came within 

touching distance of each other; JA had stood up from the speakers 

table by this time. BK made a neutral non threatening gesture with 

open palms and appeared to be saying something like “lets talk outside 

there is no point in continuing this”. JA then shouted loudly “get your 

hands off me”. BK appeared very shocked by this and was visibly 

shaken; he went back to his chair. JA and some other people then 

went outside. 

 

40



12. At no point did I think this was a police matter and it did not occur to me 

that any crime had been committed. It was not necessary or 

appropriate for me to intervene and I remained in my seat. 

 

13. I was about 30 feet away from where JA and BK came together, there 

were other people around but I could see. I did not see any contact 

between JA and BK. It is possible that BKs hand may have touched JA 

but his hands remained below his elbows with palms out, it was a 

neutral gesture.  His attitude was one of courtesy. I thought he should 

not have been put in a position where he felt he had to usher JA out of 

the meeting. 

 

14. At no time did JA or BK say anything insulting to each other or the 

Committee, all parties remained polite, it was just the volume and 

entrenchment of JA that made things awkward. She disrupted the 

meeting and at the cost of others present who may have wished to 

speak in the public session. 

 

15. JA did not approach me at the meeting and I did not speak to her. On 

12th November I became aware she had made a complaint to Thames 

Valley Police (report available). I spoke to JA at this point and made it 

clear to her that I thought she had disrupted the meeting and that BK 

had not in my view assaulted her. I said that if she wished to complain 

she might be able to do so to the Council. 

 

16. In my view BK did the best he could in a difficult situation he did not 

show any discourtesy or bullying. In my view bullying is to try to exert 

power over someone in order to manipulate a situation. If anyone was 

bullying in the meeting it was JA, she bullied the whole meeting by her 

persistent pressure and attitude.  

 

17. Before the meeting I had no views on Cowley Area Committee. 

Afterwards I was left with the impression that some control measures 

41



are needed for that sort of meeting, there didn’t seem to be any 

procedure for dealing with that sort of incident. 

 

18. BK should not have got up and approached JA but with a common 

sense view I can see why he did. It did resolve the situation and the 

meeting was able to continue, JA gave every indication that she was 

not going to stop. 

 

 

19. I think that JA may have been advised by someone after the meeting 

that BKs action could be an assault, in my view they were not.     

 

 

 

  

 

------------------------------------------- 

42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50

T
his page is intentionally left blank



51



52

T
his page is intentionally left blank



53



54



Daniel 

 

I still believe it is unreasonable that you only permit me seven days to comment on what you have sent, especially 

considering how much detail I need to respond to that is either inaccurate or (as witnessed by others) simply not 

substantiated by others. However, I calculate that seven days from when you sent your draft report last week is 

5pm today, so I will endeavour to make some necessary comments about your draft report within the minimal time 

of four working days which you have allowed me, following the six and a half months you have had to prepare and 

circulate the report:-  

I also have a number of comments on  the conduct of the investigation as a whole, and I would like these submitted 

to the committee if you are not prepared to either extend the time given to me to respond, or to take into account 

additional evidence which I consider relevant before closing the investigation. 

1. You have not been clear with me about the overall process; in your last email to me you said that your draft 

report would be available after Easter (24 April) – after 5pm on 18 May  is much later than simply ‘after’ Easter. 

From our meeting in February, I had understood that a hearing was the next point in the process, particularly as 

Bryan Keen had admitted what he had done in discussion with others. I certainly did not expect, and have at no 

point been told by you, that you would simply submit your report to a committee without further discussion. Can 

you please provide me with full details of this committee, where and when it will be held, who is on it and what I 

will be allowed to say at the meeting. 

2. There are many obvious errors in Bryan Keen’s version of events. It is inaccurate and cannot be relied upon; for 

example, it is not feasible to believe that I, someone campaigning to keep a pool open, would keep asking the 

question, ‘if it was to be closed’. What I was actually doing was questioning Bob Timbs’ statement that “the 

decision has been made” by asking what decision, when and by whom and pointing out that no such decision had 

been made out in the open and that the councilors should read the documents which the council officers had 

produced for them. Bryan Keen’s version of events is not what happened and what was witnessed by those who 

were present. Just because you have taken statements and drawn a particular conclusion (when a whole range 

could be inferred) from a limited group of councillors and council officers does not make your interpretation of 

events true. Nor does making ‘ad hominem’ inferences such as how my judgement must have been impaired 

because I was angry (how can you possibly know?) or upset (because I was a woman?) add to your reasoning, 

particularly as you don’t draw similar inferences about Bryan Keen’s behaviour. Not investigating something I say 

(such as him jabbing his finger at me as he moved towards me in a threatening manner) doesn’t mean it didn’t 

happen. 

3. You state in 5.4:- ‘During her allotted time JA asked whether the Council had made a decision to close Temple 

Cowley pool.’ At no time did I ask that question or would I have asked that question. On what do you base that 

statement? ‘BK invited Councillor Bob Timbs (Executive Member for Leisure Partnerships) to answer JA’s questions. 

JA was not satisfied with the answers given. I have not reached any view on whether or not her questions were 

adequately answered and I repeat that the issue of the proposed closure of Temple Cowley pool is not a matter for 

this investigation. Answers were given to JA’s questions though she clearly found them unsatisfactory.’ Responses 

given by Bob Timbs were clearly uninformed and untrue. Bob Timbs as my councillor and as Executive Member for 

Leisure Partnerships should at least have read the council’s own documents relating to these issues and tried to 

understand them.  If he did not understand them then he should say so and not try to dismiss the public by 

55



repeatedly saying, ‘the new pool will be bigger and have sprays and things’, and ‘the decision has been made, it 

cannot be reversed, move on’. Of course I found these replies unsatisfactory as they were clearly untrue, especially 

as this man is in receipt of public funds to fulfill his role as councillor. Of course I was shocked that he was prepared 

to say such untruths to all those present. I was concerned that the public, other councillors and council officers 

were being misled in that way which is why I had to say that this was not true, and ask “what decision? When and 

by whom?” And when he could not or was not prepared to answer those questions, repeat, ‘No decision has been 

made’. 

4. In 5.5 you use the point, ‘the allotted five minutes of the open session having been used up by that time’ as 

backing your case that I am in the wrong when in 5.3 above, ‘The Committee minutes do not clarify this but in any 

event I find the amount of time granted is not material to the matter of complain.’ you say that the amount of time 

is not relevant. 

5. In 5.6, you state ‘It is also not disputed that BK said that he would suspend the meeting if JA did not stop and 

that he appealed for assistance in resolving the situation’  when in fact both Bryan Keen and I both say that it was 

Alec Dubberley who suggested suspending the meeting, not Bryan Keen! Bryan did not say at any point in public 

that he would suspend the meeting. 

6. You say that Murray Hancock’s emails are helpful, ‘I have also found helpful the evidence of Murray Hancock 

(Chief Principal Planner). His account was written soon after the event in an email sent on the following day. 

Although there is not much detail to his account it appears to me more consistent with BK’s version of events than 

that of JA’ even though he clearly does not remember seeing Bryan Keen get up from his chair and walk across the 

room speaking at me all the time with a raised voice and jabbing his finger at me , followed by grabbing me and 

trying to put me out of the room), which of course Bryan Keen himself admits to doing in his statement, ‘I left my 

chair, which effectively suspended the meeting. Alec Dubberley (Committee Clerk) had proposed stopping the 

meeting until JA became quiet or left the meeting. I went across the room to where JA was, I was in the aisle next to 

her. She was still shouting “I want an answer” as I walked towards her. She was trying to get the audience on her 

side saying “they won’t give me an answer”. Murray Hancock’s version of events is clearly unreliable. He even 

states that he ‘doesn’t remember Bryan crossing the floor or touching her in any way’. In what way do you see this 

as ‘more consistent with BK’s version of events than that of JA’ when Bryan himself does admit to those things? 

7. There are many other points in your report and in Bryan Keen’s statement which are clearly inaccurate or 

untrue and which I would comment on in full, if I had the time to do so. 

8. His recollection of a subsequent meeting with me is completely incorrect. I was in the same room as him during 

the incident he recalls, but I did not speak to him at any point. If you are going to take that evidence into account, 

then I must insist that you take evidence from a witness who was actually the person Bryan imagines was me. This 

person, a male, challenged Bryan about his behaviour towards me; Bryan smiled throughout the conversation, 

saying that he hadn’t done anything wrong. He did not deny physically handling a middle-aged disabled woman – 

and said that since the police hadn’t been to see him he didn’t see a problem. 

9. You say a lot about Bryan Keen’s experience as a councillor – he, and you, should be aware that at no point 

should any councillor, chair or otherwise of a committee, move towards or actually touch, let alone grab in the way 

56



he did me, any member of the public. At every public meeting the process is to suspend the meeting if they are not 

happy with the way that the public are behaving. Indeed this was suggested by Alec Dubberley but ignored by 

Bryan Keen. 

10. You place much reliance on your police witness, yet do not seem to have asked him to clarify anything I said 

about him; for example, in conversation with me in front of a witness, he readily admitted that Bryan Keen’s action 

towards me was assault and battery, but said that it was not in the public interest for him to pursue the matter and 

that I should proceed through the council complaints procedure and the Local Ombudsman. 

11. You have not interviewed any of my witnesses, and therefore cannot have achieved a complete view of 

what happened. When I came to see you to give my statement in February you asked if I had witnesses or 

witness statements for the hearing. I told you that I had and almost four months later am still waiting to 

know when they will be called. 

12. When in this process, is the hearing going to take place? 

13. Permitting me only 7 days (actually 4 working days) to comment on your report has forced me to be brief and 

necessarily inexhaustive in what I want to say. There is considerable new information in your report and 

accompanying documentation, much of which I take issue with, and your investigation cannot be complete and 

could be seen as biased, particularly if you are not prepared to interview my witnesses and take what they say into 

account. 

14. Your investigation is not balanced – you have downplayed the physical events, in which Bryan Keen walked 

towards me jabbing his finger and then holding me on both shoulders, trying to turn me away, and taken no 

account of the traumatic effect this kind of behaviour has on a woman. I can provide an expert witness to vouch for 

this. 

15. The email which Inspector Matt Coburn sent to Jeremy Thomas contradicts the statement he made in which he 

describes seeing the assault and describing it as an assault, crime reference number:- BJ3706476. On that same day 

in conversation with me he actually describes it as “technically, assault and battery”. 

16. I cannot agree with your decision to reject the complaint, and would like to know what I do next if you ignore 

these comments and your recommendation is accepted by the committee. 

Jane Alexander - 24 May 2011 

57



58

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Work Programme 2011/12
	work programme

	8 Assessment and Review Panel Decision Notices
	703-4-29 Keen - Decision Notice

	10 Local Investigation Report - Complaint Reference 703/4/29
	Report
	appdxA(i)
	appdxA(ii)
	appdxA(iii)
	appdxB(i)
	appdxB(ii)
	appdxB(iii)
	appdxB(iv)
	comments


